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Statz of California

Division of Occupational Safefy and Health
6150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Suite 405

Van Nuys, CA 51401 :

Phone; (R1R) 901-5403  Fax: (B18) D01-5578

Teo: Inspection Number: 316667872

Silver Bullet Productions, Inc Ingpection Date(s): 09/21/2012 03/20/2013

atd its SUCCESEOTS Issuance Date: 03/20/2013

500 &. Buena Vista St. CSHO ID: 1577

Butbank, CA 91521-5637 Optional Report #: 011-13
Reporting 1I: (950643

Inspection Site:
5726 Soledad Canyon Rd.
Acton, CA 93510

This Citution and Notification of Penalty (hereinafter Citation) is being issued in accordance with
California Labor Code Section 6317 for violarions that were found during the inspection/investigation.
This Citation or 2 copy must be prominently posted upou receipt by the emiplover at or mear the
Jocation of each violation tmtil the viglative condition is corrected or for three working days.
whicheyer js longer. Violations of Title 8 of the California Code of Regulations or of the California
Labor Code may result in some instances in prosecution for a misdemeanor.

YOU HAVE A RIGHT to contest this Citation and Notification of Penalty by fiiing an appeal with the
Occupational Safety and Health Appeals Boatd. To initiate your appeal, you must contact the Appeals
Board, in writing or by ielephone, within 15 werking days from the date of receipt of this Citation, If
you mniss the 15 working day deadline to appeal, the Citation and Notification of Penalty becomes a final
order of the Appeals Board, not subject to review by any couri OF agency.

Citation and Notification of Penalty Page | of 21 Cal/OSHA-2 Rev 9/2012



Case 4:17-cv-10050-JLK Document 101-3 Entered on FLSD Docket 08/20/2018 Page 3 of 22

with the Manager of the District Office

Informal Conference - You may request an informal conference Off
f the Citation. However, if the citation

which issued the Citation within 10 working days after receipt 0
is appealed, you may request an informal confersnce at any time prior to the day of the hearing.
Employers are sncouraged 1o scheduls a conference at the earliest possible time to assure 2n expeditious
resolution of any isses. At the informal cenference, you may discuss the existence of the alleged
violation, classification of the violation, abatement date or proposed penalty.

Be sure t¢ bring to the conference any and ali supporting documentation of existing conditions as well
58 any abatement steps taken thus far. If conditions wagrant, we can enier into ap agresment which

resolves this matter without litigation or comntest.

APPEAL RIGHTS

The Occupational Safety and Health Appeals Board (Appeals Baard) consists of three members appoitited
by the Governor. The Appeals Board is a sepatate entity from the Division of Occupational Safety and
Health (Division) and eraploys experieniced attorneys as administrative jaw judges to hear appeals {airly
and impartially. To initiatc an zppeal from a Citation and Natification of Penalty, vou must contact the
Appeals Board, it writing or by telephone, within 15 working days from the date of receipt of 2 Citation.
After you have initiated your appeal, you must then file a completed appeal form with the Appeals Board,
at the address listed below, for each contested citation. Failure 1o file a completed appeal form with ihe
Appeals Board may result in dismissal of thg anpeal. Appeal forms are available from district offices of

the Divisign, or from the Appeals Board:

Oceupational Safety and Health Appsals Board
2520 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 300
Sacramento, CA 95833
Telaphone: (916)274-5751 or (877) 252-1987
Fax: (916) 2745783

Tf the Citation you are appealing alleges more than one item, you must specify on the appeal form which
items vou are appealing, You must alse attach to the appeal form a legible copy of the Citation you are
appealing.

Among the specific grounds for an appeal are the following: the safety ordet was not viclated, the
classification of the alleged violation (e.g., serious, repeat, willful) is imcorrect, the abatement
requirements are unteasonable or the proposed penalty is unreasonable.

Important: You must notify the Appeals Board, not the Division, of your inteni to sppeal within 15
working days from the date of receipt of the Cltation. Otherwise, the Citation and Notification of Penatty
becomes a final order of the Appeals Board not subject 1o review by any coutt or agency. An informal
gonfersnce with the Division does not gonstitute an appeal and does not stay the 15 working day #ppeal
period. If you have any questions concerning your appeal rights, call the Appeals Board, (916) 274-5751
or (877) 232-1987, N

Citation and Notification of Penalty Page 2 of 21 Cal/OSHA-2 Rev /2012
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PENALTY PAYMENT OPTIONS

Penalties are due within 15 working days of receipt of this Citation and Notification of Penalty unioss
contested. If you are appealing any item of the citation, remittance i8 still due on al] items that are not
appealed. Enclosed for your use is a Penalty Remittance Form for payment.

If you are paying electronically, please have the Penalty Remittance Form on-hand when you are ready
to make your payment. The company hame, index code, reporting D, and Citation number(s) wilt be
required in order to ensure that the payment is accurately posted to your account. Please go to
www.dir.ca.gov/dosh to access the secure payment pracessing site.

If you arz paying by check, remrn one copy of the Citation, along with the Notice of Proposed Penalties
Sheet and the Penaity Remittance Form and mail to:

Department of Industrial Relations
Cashier, Accounting Office
P. 0. Rox 420603
San Francisco, CA 94142-0603

CALJ/OSHA does not agree to any restrictions, conditions or endotsements put on any check or money
order for lass than the full amount due, and will cash the cheek or money order as if these restrictions,

conditions, or endorsements do not exist,

NOTIFICATION OF CORRECTIVE ACTION

For violations which you do not contest, you should noiify the Division of Occupational Bafety and
Health prompily by letter that you have taken appropriate corrective action within the time frame set forth
on this Citation and Notification of Penalty. Please inform the District Office listed on the Citation by
submitting the CAL/OSHA Form 160 and/or 161 with the abatement steps you have taken and the datg
the violation was abated, together with adequate supporting documsentation, e.g., drawings ot photographs
of corrected conditions, purchase/work orders related to abatement actions, air sampling results, ete. The
adjusted penalty for serious and general violations has already been reduced by 30% on the presurnption
that the employer will correct the violations by the abatement date.” If the CAL/OSHA Form 161 is
not received in the District Office within 10 days following the abatement date, the abatement credit
is revoked, cansing the penalty to double.

Note: Return the CAL/OSHA Form 1a80/161 to the District Qffice lisied on the Citation and as shown
below:

Division of Qccupational Safety and Health
6150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Suite 405
Van Muys, CA 21407
Telephone: (818) 901-5403

Clation and Netification of Penalty Page 3 0f 21 Cal/QOSHA-2 Rev 8/2012
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EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

Employer Discrimination Unlawful - The law prohibits discrimination by an employer against
an employse for filing a complaint of for exercising any rights nnder Labor Code Section 5310 or 6311,
Arn employes who believes that he/she has been discriminated against may file a complaint no later than
six (6) months afier the discrimination ocenrred with the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement.

Employee Appeals - At employee or authorized employse's representative may, within 15 working days
of the issuance of a cirtion, special order, or order to take special action, appeal to the Ocoupational
Safety and Heaith Appeals Board the reasonablensss of the period of time fixed by the Division of
Occupational Safety and Health (Division) for abatement. An employee appeal may be filed with the
Appedls Board or with the Division, No pagticular format is necessary (o initiate the appeal, but the
notice of appeal must be in writing.

If an Empioyee Appeal is filed with the Division, the Division shall note on the face of the document the
date of receipt, include any envelope or other proof of the date of mailing, and promptly transmit the
document 10 the Appeals Board, The Division shall, no Jater than 10 working days from receipt of the
Employes Appeal, file with the Appeals Board and serve on each party a clear and concise statcrwent of
the reasons why the abatement period prescribed by it is reasonable.

Employee Appeal Forms are available from the Appeals Board, or from a District Office of the Division.

Employees Participation in Informal Conference, Affected emplovees or their representatives may
notify the District Manager that they wish to attend the informal conference. If the emplover objects,
2 separate informal conference will be heid.

DISABILITY ACCOMMODATION

Disahility accommedation is available upon request. Any person with a disability requiring an
accommodation, auxiliary aid or servics, o a modification of policies ot procedures to ensure effective
communication and access to the programs of the Division of Occupational Safety and Health, should
contact the Disability Accormmedation Coordinator at the local district office or the Statewide Disability
Accommodation Coordinator at 1-866-326-1616 (toll free). The Statewids Coordinator can also be
reached through the California Relay Service, by dialing 711 or 1-800-735-2629 (TTY) or 1-800-835-
3000 {TTY-Spauish).

Atcommodations san include modifications of policies or procedures or provision of auxiliary aids or
services.  Accomumodations mclude, but are not limited to, an Assistive Listening System (ALS), a
Computer-Aided Transcription System or Communication Access Realtime Transiation (CART), a sign-
language interpreter, documents in Braille, large print or on computer disk, and audic cassetie recording.
Accommodation requests should be made as soon as possible. Requests for an ALS or CART should be
made no later than five (3} days before the hearing or conference. '

Citation and Notification of Penalty Page 4 of 21 Cal/OSHA-2 Rev 9/2012
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State of California Inspection Number: 316667872
Division of Occupational Safetv and Health Inspection Dates: 09/21/2012-~03/20/2013
Van Nuys District Office (0950643, 4046) Issuance Date: 03/20/2013

6150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Suite 403 CSHO ID: C1377

Van Nuys, CA 91401 QOptional Inspection Nhr: 011-13

Citation and Notification of Penalty

Company Name: Silver Bullet Productions, nd
Inspection Site: 5726 Soledad Canyon Rd., Acto, CA 93510

Citation 1 Iiem 1 Type of Viclation: Regulatory

California Code of Regulations, Title 8, Section 3203((2). Injury and llness Prevention Program.

(2) Documentation of safety and health (raining required by subsection (2)(7) for each employee, including
employee name or other identifier, training dates, type(s) of training, and training providers. This
docurmentation shall be maintained for at least one (1) year.

Violation:

During the inspection initiated on September 21, 2012, the Division determined that the employer did not
maintain docurnentation of safety and heaith trainipg for a1} employees,

Date By Which Violation Must be Abated: 0472272013
Proposed Penalty: $  375.00

See pages 1 through 4 oF this Citaian and Netification of Penalty or mformaton an Bmployer and employee Hights and rasponsibilities.

Citation and Notification of Penalty Poge 5 of 21 Cal/O8HA-Z Rev 7111
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State of California Inspection Number: 316667872
Division of Occupational Safety and Health Inspection Dates: 09/21/2012-03/20/2013
Van Nuys Distriet Office {0950643; 4046) Issuance Dhate: 03/20/2013

£150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Suite 405 CSHO I C1377

Van Nuys, CA 21401 Optional Juspection Nbr: 011-13

Citation and Notification of Penalty

Company Name:  Siiver Bullet Productions, Inc
Inspection Bite: 5726 Soledad Canyon Rd., Acton, CA 23510

Citation 1 Ttem 2 ‘Type of Violation: Regulatory
Califoria Code of Regulations, Title 8, Section 6052(g)(1}. General Requirements.

(£} Record of Dive.

{1) The following information shall be recorded for esch diving operation and retained for a pericd of one
yaar.

(A) Names of dive feam members including desipnated persorn-m-charge;

(B) Date, time and location;

(C) Diving modes used;

(D) General nature of diving activity;

(E) Approximate underwater and surface conditions (visibility, water temperature and current};

(F) Magimum depth, bottom time, surface interval time and mixed-gas profiles (if used) for each diver,
(G) Diving tables used if othet than 1.5. Navy Standard Alr Table.

Violation:

Instance 1.

Priot to September 21, 2012 the emplover did not record each diving operation conducted ingide of an
approximate twenty four (24} foor deep pool, as required by this subsection.

Instance 2:

The employer did not record all the required information for each dive made between September 21, 2012 and
September 28, 2012 as required by this subsection,

(g} INC) - The smployer did not record diving mode such as SCUBA, surface-supplied air, or mixed gas, as

retuired by this subsection.

(g 1D} - The employer did not document the general nature of the diving activity, as required by this
subsection,

See pages | throngh 4 oF this Citation and NGUTGanon of Penalty for InFOMMAton on employcer and copioyee FIgNts and respansibiines.

Chation amd Notification of Penalty Page 6 of 21 Cal/OSHAZ Rev 7711
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State of Califernia Inspection Number: 316667872
Division of Occupational Safety and Health Tnspection Dates: 09/21/2012.- 03/20/2013
Van Nuys District Office (0950643, 4046) Issuance Date: 03/20/2013

6150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Sujte 403 CSHO ID: CI1577

Van Nuys, CA 51401 Optional Inspection Nbr: 011-13

Citation and Notification of Penalty

Company Name: Silver Bullet Productions, nc
Inspection Site: 5726 Soledad Canyon Rd., Acton, CA 93310

{(g)(1){; - The employer did not document approximate underwater and surface conditions such ag visibility

and waler temperature, as requirved by this subsection. ,
Date By Which Violation Must be Abated: 04/22/2013
Proposed Penalty: $ 37500

See pages 1 through 4 of this Citation and Ntification of Penalty for information on croplayer and cmployee Tigits and reaponamnes,

Citatlon and Netification of Penaity Page 7 of 21 Cal/OSHA-2 Rev 7/11
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State of California Inspection Number: 316667872
Division of Occupational Safety and Health Inspection Dates: 09/21/2012-03/20/2013
Van Nuys District Office (0930643, 4046) Issuance Date: 03/20/2013

6150 Van Muys Boulevard, Suite 405 C8HO ID: 1577

Van Nuys, CA 91401 Optional Inspection Nbr: 011-13

Citation and Notification of Penaliy

Company Name:  Silver Bullet Productions, Ing
Inspection Site: 5726 Soledad Canyon Rd., Acten, CA 93510

Citation 1 Itern 3 Type of Viofation: REgulatory

California Code of Regulations, Title §, Section 6057(a), Equipment Procedutes and Requirements.

() Recordkesping. Fach equipment modification, repair, test, calibration or maintenance service be logged
including the date and paturs of work performed, serial number of the item and the pame of the person

performing the work for the following equipment:

Compressors

Regulators

SCUBA tanks

Diving helmets

Submgrsible breathing masks
Submersible pressure gauges
Depth gauges

Tank valves

(Gas control panels
Analytical instruments

Viplation:

During the inspaction initiatsd on September 21, 2012, the Division determined that the employer did not
traintain records of modifications, repairs, (ests, calibrations, and maintenance of SCUBA equipment.

Date By Which Violations Must be Abated: 04/22/2G13
" Proposed Penalty: $ 37500

Sc pages 1 through 4 of this Citation and Notification af Penalty Tor iafarmaiion on Smployer a1 employee Tgs and Tesponaibiliies.

Citation ang Notification of Penalty Fage B of 21 Cal/QSHA-2 Rev /11
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State of California Inspection Numsber: 316667872
Division of Gceupational Safety and Health Tnspection Dates: 05/21/2012 - 03/20/20 13
Van Nuys District Office (0930643; 4045) Tssuance Date: 03/20/2013
6150 Van Nuys Boalevard, Suite 403 CSHO ID:  C1577
Van Nuys, CA 91401 Optional Inspection Nbr: 011-13

Citation and Netification of Penalty

Company Name:  Silver Bullet Productions, Inc
Inspection Site: 5726 Soledad Capyon Rd., Actor, TA 53510

Citation 1 ltern 4 Type of Violaon: (General

California Code of Regulations, Title &, Section 3203(a)(7). Injury and Tloess Prevention Program.

(a) Bffective July 1, 1991, every employer shall establish, implement and maintain an effective Injury and
\llhess Prevention Pregram (Program). The Program shall be in writing and, ghall, at 4 minimum:

{7) Provide training and instruction:

(AY When the program is first established;

BXCEPTION: Enployers having in place on July 1, 1991, a written Injury aid Iness Prevention Program
complying with the previonsly existing Accident Prevention Prograr in Section 320%.

(B) To all new employees;

(C) To all employess given new job assignments for which training has ot previously been received;

(D) Whenever new substances, processes, procedurss or equipment are introduced to the workplace and
represent 2 new hagzard;

(E) Whenever the employer is made aware of 3 ew or previously unrecogitized hazard; and,

(F) For supervisors to familiarize themselves with the safety atid health hazards to which employees under their
immedjate direction and contro) may be exposed.

Viglation:

During the inspection initiated on September 21, 2012, the Division detsrmined that the employer’s Injury and
Iliness Prevention Program (IIPP) was ineffective in that employses were not traingd in hazards specific 1o their
work at the Polsa Rosa Ranch worksite.

Date By Which Violation Must be Abated: 04/22/2013
Proposed Penalty: §  560.00

Rew pagss ] through 4 of ng Chation and NOLUNGabon of Penalty Tor TROTIRALION on CmpIOYer And Crployee MENtE and [eSPOnEniImcs,

Citation and Notification of Penalty Page 9 of 21 Cal/OSHAL Rev 7711



Case 4:17-cv-10050-JLK Document 101-3 Entered on FLSD Docket 08/20/2018 Page 11 of

22

Tnspection Number: 316667872

State of California
InspectionDates:09/21/2012-03/ 20/2013

Division of Occupational Safety and Health

Van Nuys District Office (0950643, 4046) Tssnanee Date; 03/20/2013
6150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Suite 403 CSEO D C1577
Van Nuys, CA 91401 Optional Inspection Nbr: Q1 1-13

Citation and Notification of Penalty

Company Name:  Silver Bullet Productions, Ine
Inspection Site: 8726 Soledad Canyott Rd., Acton, CA 933 10

Citation 1 Ttem 5 Type of Violation: (eneral

California Code of Reguiations, Title 8, Section 6052(b). General Requiretnents.

(b) Requirement for 2 Manual for Diving Safety. The employer shall develop and maintain a Mahval for
Diving Safety which shall be made available to cach dive team mernber. The emergency evacuation and
emergency medical treatment sections of the Manual for Diving Safety shall be abstracted and with the
decompression, repetitive, and no-decompression rables (as appropriate) be available at the dive location,

Reference: California Cods of Regulations, Title 8, Section 6034. Manual for Diving Safety.
{#) The Manual for Diving Safety shall include, but not pe limited to:

(1) A copy of this standard and the employet’s poticies for implementing the requirements of this standard,
(2) Far each diving mode engaged it

(A) Safety procedures for the diving operation;

(B) Responsibilities of the dive team members;

() Equipment procedures,

(D)) Emergency procedures,

(3) Emergency Evacuation and Emergency Medical Treatment Procedures.

(A) A listing of operational recompression chambers and appropriate medical facilities.

(B) For each diving location & procedure shall be established to transport a diver to an operational
recomprasglon chamber in the event of 4 diving accident.

Violation:

During the inspection initiated on September 21, 2012, the Division determined that the emplover had not
developed end maintained a Manual for Diving Safety containing the elements required by Section 6054,
including emergency procedures to be followed. On September 21, 2012, a Diver drowned and the BCD was
not engaged and emergency rescue procedures were 1ot implemented.

Date By Which Violation Must be Abated: 0472272013

Sec puges 1 tirough 4 of this Gllation and Motification of Peneity for mformiation on employer and empioyee rights and msponmbilmes,

Citation and Notification of Ponalty Page 10 of 21 Cal/Q3HA-2 Rev 7/11
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State of California Inspeetion Number: 316667872
Division of Occupational Safety and Health Inspection Dates: 09/21/2012-03/20/2013
Van Nuys District Offies (0950643; 4046) Issuance Date: 03/20/2013
6150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Sujte 403 CSHO I Clﬁ:’/’?
Van Nuys, CA 91401 ' Optional Inspection Nbr: 011-13

Citation and Notification of Penalty

Company Name:  Siiver Bullet Productions, Inc
Inspection Site: %726 Soledad Canyon Rd., Acton, CA 93510

Proposed Penpalty: $  560.00

See pages | through 4 of this Citation and Notiieation of Penalty for Information on employsr and employee rights and résponsibilities.

Ciration and Notification of Prnalty Page 11 of 21 Cal/QSHA-2 Rev 7711
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State of California Inspection Number: 316667872
Division of Orcnpational Safety and Health Inspection Dates: 09/21/2012-03/20/2013
Van Nuys District Office (0950643; 4046) fssmance Date:  03/20/2013
6150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Suite 405 CSHO ID: C1577
Van Nuys, CA 91401 Optional Inspeciion Nbrx: H11-13

Citation and Notification of Penalty

Company Name:  Silver Bullet Productions, Inc
Inspection Site: 5726 Soledad Caryon Rd., Acton, CA 933510

Citation 1 Ttem & Type of Vielation: General

California Code of Regnlations, Title 8, Section G057(d)4). Equipment Procedures and Reguirements,

(4) The compressor for supplying air shall be equipped, maintained and its air quality tested as required by
Section 5144{1).

Reference: Califormiz Code of Regulations, Title 8, Section 5144(i) Respiratory Protective Equipment.

(ij Breathing ait guality and use. This subsection requires the employer to provide employses using
atmosphere-gupplying respirators (supplied-air and SCHA) with breathing gases of high purity.

(1) The employer shall ensurs that compressed air, compressed oxygen, liguid air, and liquid oxygen used for
respiration accords with the following specifications:

(4} Compressed and liquid oxygen shall meet the United States Pharmacopoeia requirements for medical or
breathing oxygen; and

(B) Compressed breathing air shall meet at least the requirements for Grade D breathing air described in
ANSI/Comprassed Gas Association Comumodity Specification for Air, G-7.1-1989, io mclude:

1. Oxygen contert (v/v) of 19.5-23.3%;

2. Hydrocarbon (condensed) content of 3 milligrams pet cubic meter of air or less;

3, Carbon monoxide (CO) content of 10 ppm or leas;

4. Carbon dioxide content of 1,000 ppm or less; and

5. Lack of noticeable odor. .

(2) The employer shall ensure that compressed oxygen is not used in atmosphere- supplying respirators that
have previougly used compressed air.

(3) The employer shall ensure that oxygen concentrations greater than 23.5% are used only in equipment
designed for oxygen service or distribution.

{4} The employer shall ensure that cylinders used to supply breathing air to respirators meet the following
tequirements:

(A} Cylinders are tested and maintained as preseribed in the Shipping Container Specification Regulations of
the Department of Transportation (49 CFR 173 aad part 178);

{B) Cylinders of purchased breathing air have a certificate of analysis from the supplier that the breathing air
meets the requirements for Grade [ breathing air; and

{C) The moisture content in the cylinder does not exceed a dew point of =50 deg. F (-45.6 deg. C) at 1
atmospliere pressure.

See papes 1 through 4 of this Cltstion and Notification of Pepaity for information on emplofer and employes rights and responsimilitics,

Citation and Notification of Penaly Page 12 of 21 Cal/OSHAL Rev /11
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State of California _ Tuspection Number: 316667872
Division of Occupational Safety and Healih Inspection Dates: 09/21/2012 - 03/20/201%
Van Wuys District Office (0950643; 4046) Issuance Date: 03/20/2013
6150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Suite 405 ‘ CSHO ID: C1577
Van Nuys, CA 91401 Optional Ingpection Nbr: §11-13

Citation_and Notification of Penalty '

Company Name:  Silver Bullet Produgctions, Inc
Inspection Site: 5726 Soledad Canyon Rd., Acton, CA 9331C

{5) The amployer shall ensure that compressors uged to supply breathing air to respirators are constructed and

gimated 0 as to

(A) Prevent entry of contaminated air into the air-supply system;

(B) Minimize moistute content so that fhe dew point at 1 atmosphere pressure is 10 degrees F (-5.56 deg. C)
below the ambient emperatre, _

(C) Have suitable in-line air-purifying sorbent beds and filters to further ensure breathing air quality. Sorbent
beds and filters ghall be raintained and replaced or refurbished periodically following the mapufacturer’s
instructions. ‘

(T?) Have a tag containing the most tecent change date and the signatute of the person authorized by the
employer to perform the change. The tag shall be mainteined at the comprassor.

(6) For compressors that are not oil-lubricated, the smployer shall ensure that carbon monoxide levels in the
hreathing ajr do not excesd 10 ppm.

(7) Ror cil lubricated compressors, the empioyer shell use a high-temperature or carbon monoxide alarm, or
both, to monitor carbon monoxide levels, If only high-tervperature alarms are used, the air supply shall be
monitored at intervals sufficient to prevent carbon monoxide in the breathing air from exceeding 10 ppm.
{8) The employer shall ensure that breathing air couplings are incompatible with outlets for nonrespirable
worksite air or other gas systems, Mo asphyxiating substance shall be introduced into breathing air lines.

(9) The employer shall use brzathing gas containers marked in accordance with the NIQSH respirator
certification standard, 42 CFR part 84.

Violation:
Instance 1:

* The Baver Comptessor (Model: MIVDV-EL, Serial: 57567} used to supply breathing air for SCUBA dives on
and prior to September 21, 2012 did not have a high-temperature or carbon monoxide alarm, as requited by
this subsection,

Instance 2:

The employer did not conduct teats of the air supplied by the Bauer Compressor (Model: MII/DV-E1, Setial:
57567) to ensure that employees using SCUBA on and prior to September 21, 2012 were provided with Grade
D breathing air. '

See pages 1 through 4 of this Citation and Motifteation of Penalty for information on employer ang employee TIENis and FesponsibiRacs,

Citation and Notification of Penalty Pape 13 of 21 Cal/OSHA-2 Rev 7411
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State of California Tnspection Number: 316667872
Division of Occupational Safety and Health . Inspection Dates: 05/21/2012-03/20/2013
Van Nuys District Office (0550643 4046} Issusnce Date: 03/20/2013
$150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Suite 403 CSHO 1D: C1577
Van Nuys, CA 9140] Optional Inspection Nbr: 011-13

Citation and Notification of Penalty

Company Name:  Silver Bullet Productions, Inc
Inspection Site: 5726 Soledad Canyon Rd., Acton, CA 93510

Date By Which Viclation Must be Abated: 04/22/2013
Proposed Penalty: §  700.00

See pages 1 through 4 of ihiE Cltation and NoTTication of Penalty T NFOTdiauog 0n emplyet and Stiplayee TS ang resplnsitiifics.

Citation znd Notification of Fenalty Page 14 of 21 Cal/OSHEA-2 Rev 7711
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22 ]
State of California Inspection Number: 316667872
Division of Geeupational Safety and Health Insp:-:ctimﬂ)ates:09f21/2012-0312012013
Van Nuys District Office (0950643, 4046) Issnance Date: Q3/20/2013
6150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Suite 405 CSHO ID: C1577
Van Nuys, CA 91401 Optional Inspection Nbr: 011-13

Citation and Notification of Penalty

Company Name: Silver Ballet Productions, Inc
Inspection Sites 5726 Soledad Canyon Rd., Acton, CA 93310

Citation £ Ttem 1 Type of Violation: Serious

California Cede of Regulations, Title 8, Section 6052(c)(1). General Requirements.

(c) The Dive Team.
(1) Person-in-Charge: .
(4) Definition and Authority: The employer ot a person appoinied by the employer shall be designated as the
person-in-charge. This person sball be in charge of all aspects of the diving operation and shall be at the dive
tocation or the dive site during the diving operation,
(B) Qualifications; The person-in-charge shall have experience and training to conduct the diving operation.
(C) Responsibilities.
1. Coordination. Diving shall be coordinated with other known activities in the vicinity which are likely to
interfere with diving operations.
2. Bricfing. The dive team members shall be briefed on:
(i) Dive objectives; :
(i) Any unusual hazards or envitopinental contitions likely to affect the safsty of the diving gperation;
{iiiy Any modifications to diving or emergency procedures necessitated by the specific diving operation;
(lv) Inumediately reporting any physical problems or adverse physiological sffects including symproms of
pressure related injuries.
3. Pre-Dive Inspection, The designated-person-in-charge shall ascertain that the diver has conducted a
functional check of his or her own diving equipment and shall inquire inta the diver’s current state of diving
fitness.
4., Post Dive Procedures.
(i} After the completion of a day’s diving, the designatsd-person-in-charge shall observe the physical condition
of each diver and shall conduct an interview with each diver regarding any physical problems or symploms of
decompression sickness, ,
(i) When diving outside the no-decornpression limits, despet that 100 fsw or using mixed gas as a breathing
mixeure, the employer shall jnsure the diver remains awake for at least one hour after diving (including
decompression ot treatment if appropriate), and m the vicinity of the decompression chamber (if required at the
dive location), or in the company of a dive team member who 1§ prepared (0 ransport the diver 0 a
decompression chamber if necessary. _ : :
(2) Diver, Qualifications: The diver shall be trained and gualified for the diving mode being used and shall
have the training and experience to participate in diving activities in a safs and healthful manner.

Tee papas T Dhvough 4 of (his Citarion and Natfcation of Pepaliy for mroreauen nn smpioyer and employce rights and responsibilities.

Citation and Notification of Penalty Page 15 of 21 CRlVQSHAZ Rey 7411



Case 4:17-cv-10050-JLK Document 101-3 Entered on FLSD Docket 08/20/2018 Page 17 of

22
State of California Inspection Number: 316667872
Division of Occupational Safety and Health nspection Dates: 09/21/2012-013/20/2013
Vat Nuys District Office (0950643, 4046} Issuance Irate: 03/20/2013
6150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Suite 405 C8HO ID: C1577
Van Nuys, CA 91401 Optional Inspection Nbr: 011-13

Citation and Netification of Penalty

Company Name:  Silver Bullet Productions, Inc
Inépection Site: 5726 Solsdad Canyon Rd., Acton, CA 93510

(3) Diver-in-Training. Qualifications: The diver-in-training shall have the training and experience to participais
i the training activity in safe and healthful manner,

Violation:

On September 21, 2012, the employer failed to have the person designated in- charge of all agpects of the
diving operation at the dzw location or site where a diving team was engaged in cleaning a deep pool/water
tank at the Polsz Rosa Ranch, The person in-charge was not on site to conduct the required briefing and pre-

dive inspection,

Date By Which Violation Must be Abated: 03/30/2013
Proposed Penalty: $ 6750.00

Sec pages 1 trough 4 of this Citation and Notification of Peralty for mformation an employer and cnployee nghts and feeponspines.
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State of California Inspection Number: 316667872
Division of Occupational Safety and Health Inspection Dates: 09/21/2012-03/20/2013
* Van Nuys District Office (0950643; 4046) Issnance Date: 03/20/2013
5150 Van Nuys Bowlevard, Suite 405 CSHO ID: C1577
Van Nuys, CA 81401 Optional Inspection Nbr: 011-13

Citation and Notification of Penalty

Company Name:  Silver Bullet Productions, Iuc
Inspection Site: 5726 Soizdad Canyon Rd., Acton, CA 93510

Citation 3 Itern 1 Type of Violation: SEIiOUS

California Code of Repulations, Title 8, Section 6052(M{2). General Requirements.

(2) AJl dive team smembers shall be trained in cardiopulmonary reguscitation, diver rescue techniques and
diving related first aid.

Violation:

On September 21, 2012, the employer failed to ensure that all employees (dive tear: members) engaged in a
diving operation to clean 2 deep pool/water tank located at the Polsa Rosa Ranch, were trainad in

* cardiopulmonary resuscitation, diver rescue techniques and diving velated first aid, as required by this

subsection.
Date By Which Violation Must be Abated: 03/30/2013
Proposed Penalty: $ 6750.00

See pages 1 tirough 4 of tis Citation #nd Notification of Fenally for information 01l empioyer and employée rights and rosponaibilities.
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State of California Inspection Number: 316667872
Division of Occupational Safety and Health Tuspection Dates: 09/21/2012-03/20/2013
Van Nuys District Office (0950643; 4046 Issunance Date: (3/20/2013
6150 Yan Nuys Boulevard, Sulie 403 ~ CSHO ID: C1377
Van Nuys, CA 21401 : Optional Inspection Nbr: 011-13

Citation and Noetification of Penalty

Company Name:  Silver Bullet Productions, Inc
Inspection Site: 5726 Scledad Canyon Rd., Acton, CA 93510

Cltation 4 Item 1 Type of Violation:  Serious Accident-Related
California Code of Regulations, Title 8, Section 6033{b)(1). Medical Requirgments of Dive Tean
(b) Frequency of Medical Examinations. Medical examinations shail be provided:

(1) Before an employee may dive, unless an equivalent medical examination has been given within the
preceding 12 months and the employer has obtained the results of the examination and an opinion from the
exaining physician of the employse’s medical fitness to dive.

(2) At one year intervals from the date of initial exarmination or last equivalent examination; and

(3) After an injury or illness requiring hospitalization of more than twenty-four (24) hours.

(4) After an episode of unconsciousness related to diving activity.

Reference: California Clode of Regulations, Title 8, Section 6052(a)2)(B). General Requireents.

(2) The employer shall not:

(B) Permiit a dive team membsr o dive for the duration of any physical impairment or condition which is
known to the employer and is likely to affect adversely the safety or health of the emplayee or other dive team

members,

Viplation:

On and before September 21, 2012, the employer had ot provided medical examination nor obtained the
results of any other equivalent examnination and an opinion from the examining physician of the employees’
medical fitness to dive, for any of the dive tean members assignied to clean a deep pool/waier tank wearing
SCUBA. As a result one of the members of the dive team drowned on September 21, 20172,

Date By Which Violation Must be Abated: 03/30/2013
Proposed Penalfy: L ' $  22500.00

Ses pages 1 trongh 4 oF (W Cration and MNenfication of Penalty for information on émployer and erployee rights and fesponsibilities.
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State of California Tuspection Number: 316667872
Division of Qccupational Safety and Health . Inspectinni)atcs:09/21/2012—{}3!20&013
Van Nuys District Office (0950643, 4046) Tssuance Daie: 03/20/2013
%150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Sujte 403 CSHO ID: C1577
Van Nuys, CA 91401 . Optienal Inspection Nbr: 011-13

Citation and Notification of Penalty

Company Name:  Silver Ballet Produstions, e
Inspection Site: 5726 Soledad Capyon Rd., Acton, CA G3510

Citation 5 Ttem L Type of Violation: S€rious Accident-Related

California Code of Regulations, Titie &, Section 6056(a)(2). Basic Operation Procedures.

{2) Procedures.

(A) A standby diver shall be available while 4 diver is iy the water; or

(B) A diver shall be line-tended from the surface; o,

() A SCUBA diver shail be accompanied in the water by another SCUBA diver and they shall reimain m
effective communication with each other throughout the diving aperation.

(D) A diver shall be stationed at the underwater point of entry when diving is conducted in enclosed or
physically confining spaces; or an orientation line shall be used in enciosed spaces where there Is a probability
of entraprent or disorientatiofl. _ ‘

(E) If loss of effective comumunication occurs, within a buddy team, all divers shall surface and re-establish
contact,

(F) Each diver or buddy team shall have an adequate depth gauge apd underwater time keeping device.

(G Bach diver shall have a submersible pressure gauge for monitoring SCUBA tank pressure, capable of being
monitored by the diver during the dive.

(H) The dive shall be terminated while thers is stll sufficient tank pressure to perrait the diver to safely reach
the surface (including decompression time if a decompression chamber is not provided at the dive gite).

(D) Bach diver shali have the capability of achieving and maintaining positive buoyancy.

Violation,

On Septerber 21, 2012, a diver drowned while cleaning a deep pool/waier tank and the employer failed 1o
implement any of the required elements of this subsection, incloding but not fimited to:

1) Not having a standby diver available while another divet was in the watet; or

2y Not having the diver in the water line-tended from the surface; or

3)  Not having the SCUBA. diver accompanied by another SCUBA diver in the water and effective
commuzication with sach other throughout the diving,

See papes 1 through 4 of this Citabion and Netcalion of Peralty far infermation on employer and employce rights and respensibiiities,
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Inspection Number: 316667872

State of California
Inspection Datess 09/21/2012-03/20/2013

Division of Qccupational Safety and Health

Van Nuys District Office (0950643; 4046) Issnance Date: 03/20/2013
6150 Van Nuys Boulevard, Suite 405 CSHO ID: C1577
Yan Nuys, CA 81401 Optional Inspection Nhw: 011-13

Clitation and Notification of Penalty

Company Name:  Silver Bullet Productions, [ne
Inspection Site: 5726 Soledad Canyon Rd., Acton, CA 93510

Date By Which Violation Must be Abated: 03/30/2013
Proposed Penalty: $  22500.00
Q\é@f\ (jkx /:Tﬂww 0. Mmrmmsn
L0,

Comprl{anc jcer/District Manager
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